FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/20/2019 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
9/17/2019 8:00 AM

97683-0

No. 78908-2-i

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION ONE

HEIDI SCHUYLEMAN, individually, and as Personal Representative of the ESTATE OF JASON LYLE SCHUYLEMAN, and as representative OF SERENA SCHUYLEMAN, child of JASON LYLE SCHUYLEMAN and JASON'S stepchildren, HAILEY WOOLSEY, age 7, COLLEEN SCHEWEKING, age 10, JULIA SCHEWEKING, age 12, SERENA SCHUYLEMAN, age 14, and RICHARD LOTHROP, age 20,

Plaintiffs,

٧.

IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Heidi Schuyleman, individually and as personal representative of the Estate Of Jason Lee Schuyleman, seeks review of the Court of Appeals decision designated below.

COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals decision is <u>Schuyleman v. BP West Coast Products</u>, <u>LLC</u>, No. 78908-2-1 (Division One, unpublished), issued July 1, 2019. A copy of the opinion is attached as Appendix 1-11. The Court of Appeals denied a motion for reconsideration on August 19, 2019. A copy of the order denying reconsideration is attached as Appendix 12-13.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Vicarious liability.

When an employee gets drunk at a company Christmas party and causes a highway accident death shortly after leaving the party, the victim's estate may establish that the employer is vicariously liable by proving the elements of the groundbreaking respondeat superior theory stated by this court in <u>Dickinson v. Edwards</u>, 105 Wn.2d 457, 468-69, 716 P.2d 814 (1986). Must the victim's family also prove that the employer furnished the alcohol? Schuyleman contends the Court of Appeals has added a "furnishing" element neither stated nor implied by this court, weakening one of the remedies provided by <u>Dickinson</u>.

2. Negligence under Restatement 317.

An employer may be found negligent for failing to control an employee whose conduct "on premises in possession of the master" has created an unreasonable risk of harm to others. Restatement (Second) of Torts Sec. 317 (Am. Law Inst. 1965). Does an employee who is on company premises create an unreasonable risk of harm by becoming too drunk to drive? Schuyleman contends the Court of Appeals erroneously interpreted the Restatement to be inapplicable when the injury occurs away from the premises, even if the employee's risky conduct occurs on the premises.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiff's action against Respondent BP West Coast Products was dismissed on summary judgment. This statement of the case narrates the facts in the light most favorable to the plaintiff.

In this civil case, it is Schuyleman's burden to prove that: (1) BP was vicariously liable for injuries caused by its employee Brian Smith after he became intoxicated at the company party, or (2) under Restatement 317, BP was directly liable for its own negligence in failing to prevent its employee Brian Smith from driving away from the party when he was noticeably drunk.

From the beginning, BP has maintained it is "mere speculation" that Brian Smith got drunk or appeared intoxicated while at the employee party. CP 18, BP Motion for Summary Judgment. The evidence Schuyleman relies on to prove that Brian got drunk at the party is set forth in detail in this Statement of the

Case. Although the Court of Appeals did not discuss this issue, Schuyleman anticipates that BP will offer it as an alternative ground for affirmance.

BP operates an oil refinery at Cherry Point near Ferndale, Washington.

On the evening of Friday, December 5, 2014, BP hosted its annual Christmas party for employees and their children at the Lynden fairgrounds. BP employee Brian Smith received the email invitation that was sent to the whole refinery.

Smith Deposition, January 11, 2017, CP 383. BP did not furnish alcohol.

Employees understood that it was to be an alcohol-free event. The party was attended by 389 adults and 483 children. CP 132 (Declaration of Katie Welch).

Brian Smith attended the party with his wife and children. Smith Deposition at 21. Driving home alone after the party, Brian crashed into the motorcycle being driven by Jason Schuyleman. Smith Deposition, CP 416. Smith was very drunk at the time of the crash.

Schuyleman died from his injuries. His widow, Heidi, sued Smith and BP on behalf of herself and their children. Complaint, CP 1-11. She asks this court to order a trial to determine whether BP is liable for their damages.

Brian Smith reported for work at the refinery at 6:30 a.m. on the day of the Christmas party. It was a Friday. Brian was not scheduled to work but he had volunteered for overtime. Smith Deposition, CP 375. Brian worked all day until 5 p.m. He did not consume any alcohol while working at the refinery. Smith

¹ In this brief, most of the citations to Brian Smith's testimony refer to a lengthy deposition taken on January 11, 2017, after the criminal trial. This deposition, which begins at CP 368, will be referred to as "Smith Deposition". A very short deposition of Brian Smith was taken in this civil case on May 20, 2016, before the criminal trial. CP 189. It will be cited by its date.

Deposition, CP 381. He knew drinking on the job was against the company rules and grounds for firing. Smith Deposition, CP 381, 454.

After getting off work at 5 p.m., Brian drove by himself to the fairgrounds. He did not stop anywhere along the way. Smith Deposition, CP 382. At the fairgrounds, he parked next to his wife's minivan. She had just arrived with their children. They all went inside together. A BP badge was necessary for admission, as the party was only for BP employees. Smith Deposition, CP 388, 391.

Brian was at the fairgrounds from around 5:30 p.m. until a little after 7 p.m. when the party ended and everyone left. Smith Deposition, CP 391, 396. Brian's sister and brother-in-law, Rhonda and Ken Brown, had been at the fairgrounds party with their own three children. It was agreed that the two families would go and get a bite to eat at the Rusty Wagon restaurant, about 15 minutes away. Smith Deposition, CP 398-99. At about 7:15 p.m., Brian and his wife left the fairgrounds in their respective vehicles. They arrived at the restaurant at the same time, about 7:30 p.m., and met up with the Browns. Brian did not stop anywhere en route. Smith Deposition, 399-404.

Karis Van Diest, a waitress, served Brian and his family at the Rusty Wagon. CP 1040-46. Their order was taken at 7:45 p.m. CP 1442, 1447 (restaurant records). Based on her training as a server of alcoholic beverages, Ms. Van Diest concluded Brian was drunk. She shared this observation at the time with her fellow employees. CP 1045. Brian did not order anything to drink

at the Rusty Wagon. The bill was paid at 8:19 p.m. CP 1442, 1447. Brian claimed he had no alcohol in his system at that point. Smith Deposition at 403.

When the Browns departed, Brian's wife decided to sit in her van in the restaurant parking lot to nurse their infant before leaving for home. Brian decided to sit with her and keep her company. Smith Deposition, CP 406.

Brian's wife had Budweiser beer in the back of her van. Smith Deposition, CP 407-09. He testified that when he got in his wife's van, she told him she had purchased beer and snacks for when they got home. Smith Deposition, CP 408-09. Brian claimed he did not know about the beer earlier. He testified that he went around to open up the cargo space where the beer was, took out one beer, and returned to the passenger seat where he drank it. He could not recall whether the beer was in an open box or how much there was. CP 411-412.

At about 8:30 p.m., Brian got into his own SUV alone and left for home, a drive of 10 or 15 minutes from the Rusty Wagon. He did not stop anywhere along the way. CP 792-93, Criminal Trial VRP 11-21-2016.²

Brian was almost home when he made a left turn in front of Jason Schuyleman's oncoming motorcycle. Smith Deposition, CP 416. Jason landed face up on the hood of Brian's SUV with his head against the windshield. CP 417. It was 8:43 p.m., approximately 1 hour and 30 minutes after Brian left the party. Jason died just under three hours later at Saint Joseph's hospital.

Local police responded immediately to a 911 call and arrived at the accident scene at 8:44 p.m. CP 572-723, 576, Criminal Trial VRP, November 8.

² Volume 3 of the Clerk's Papers consists of transcripts of the testimony from the criminal trial, which occurred over 6 days in November 2016. <u>See</u> CP 543, Declaration of Counsel.

State Trooper Brad Beattie, who arrived at 9:07 p.m., talked to Brian and observed that he had bloodshot, watery eyes and smelled of alcohol. CP 615, 619, Criminal Trial VRP, November 8. Brian said he hadn't had anything to drink. CP 105 (State Patrol Report). When Beattie asked Brian to obtain his registration and insurance papers from the SUV, Brian instead locked all the car doors. Beattie observed that he was smiling and laughing. Brian performed poorly on field sobriety tests. Beattie arrested him for DUI. CP 622-644, Criminal Trial VRP, November 9, 2016. A portable breath test was administered, producing a reading of .145 at 9:40 p.m. CP 106 (State Patrol report). No containers of alcohol were found in Brian's car. CP 130 (State Patrol).

Brian sat in the back of Beattie's patrol car for more than half an hour.

Beattie could smell the "strong odor" of alcohol coming from the backseat when he drove Brian to the hospital. CP 647, Criminal Trial VRP, November 9, 2016.

A warrant was obtained for a blood draw. Brian strenuously resisted having his blood drawn, delaying the process. CP 649-719, Criminal Trial VRP November 9, 2016; CP 1134, Criminal Trial VRP, November 15, 2016; CP 1012, Criminal Trial VRP November 21, 2016. Despite his obstructive behavior, a sample was obtained at 1:30 a.m. showing a blood alcohol level of .05. CP 911, Criminal Trial VRP, November 15, 2016. At the criminal trial, a state toxicologist explained retrograde extrapolation and opined that Brian's blood level was over the legal limit of .08 at the time of impact. CP 914-920. Medical examiner Dr. Gary

³ The State's testimony describing Brian's conduct at the hospital is summarized in the Court of Appeals opinion affirming the verdict finding him guilty of vehicular homicide and obstructing a law enforcement officer. <u>State v. Brian Smith</u>, No. 76340-7 (Division One, unpublished), issued December 3, 2018.

Goldvogel agreed with this opinion. CP 1040. The criminal case established, and BP does not dispute, that Brian Smith was intoxicated and was driving negligently when he crashed into Jason Schuyleman at 8:43 p.m.

BP disputes Schuyleman's contention that Brian Smith got drunk while he was at the party. Brian Smith's own sworn testimony is evidence that he did not drink at the refinery, or on the way to the party, or after he left the party—with the possible exception of a single beer at the Rusty Wagon parking lot. Brian's blood alcohol level was .13 at the time of impact. It is not possible that Brian could have achieved that level if all he had to drink was one beer. CP 301-04, deposition testimony of Dr. Goldvogel. A jury may choose to believe Brian's testimony that he did not drink before or after the employee party. If they do, they will have to deduce that the only way he could have consumed enough alcohol to achieve a blood alcohol level of .13 by 8:43 p.m. was by drinking at the party.

Brian understood that it was against company rules to bring alcohol to the fairgrounds or to consume alcohol while there. He understood that the company would sanction him if he violated those rules. Smith Deposition, 19-20, 89. Thus, it was in his self-interest to deny drinking at the party. At the criminal trial, Brian denied drinking at the party, although he left open the possibility that others might have been drinking outside the main building.⁴ After the criminal trial, Brian was asked in a deposition in this civil case whether he had consumed alcohol at the Christmas party. He categorically denied it. Smith Dep. at 31.

⁴The prosecutor asked Brian if there was any drinking out in the parking lot. Brian's response was, "No, not, not that I was involved in." Criminal Trial VRP 11-21-2016 at 71-72.

In an earlier civil deposition that occurred before the criminal trial, Brian was asked the same question—whether he had consumed alcohol at the Christmas party. His answer: "I decline to answer on the ground my answer may incriminate me." Deposition of Brian Smith, May 20, 2016, CP 189. The inference from Brian's invocation of the Fifth Amendment is not only that he did drink at the Christmas party, but also that he drank enough to put him above the legal limit for driving. See Ikeda v. Curtis, 43 Wash.2d 449, 261 P.2d 684(1953). To hold that no such inference can be drawn in a civil case "would be an unjustifiable extension of the privilege". Ikeda, 43 Wash.2d at 458. Had Brian admitted that he drank enough at the Christmas party to be over .08, it would have been incriminating evidence that the State could have used in the upcoming criminal trial. At a trial in this civil case, the jury will be allowed to draw the adverse inference.

Further evidence that Brian got drunk at the party is the testimony of disinterested witness Karis Van Diest, who concluded Brian was drunk based on how he looked and acted when he arrived at the Rusty Wagon. As is more fully discussed below in connection with Restatement 317, a jury may infer that he had a similar appearance when he left the party 15 minutes earlier.

PROCEEDINGS

Schuyleman filed this lawsuit December 30, 2014. Her allegations against Smith were resolved by settlement in August, 2016. Criminal charges against Smith resulted in a guilty verdict after a jury trial in November, 2016. BP moved for summary judgment dismissal in this civil case on November 8, 2017. The order granting the motion for summary judgment was entered December 15,

2017 after a hearing. An order granting Schuyleman's motion for reconsideration was entered on January 12, 2018 after another hearing.

Schuyleman moved for direct review. This court transferred the appeal to the Court of Appeals. The Court of Appeals heard oral argument on June 11, 2019 and filed its opinion on July 1, 2019. Schuyleman filed both a motion to publish and a motion to reconsider on July 18, 2019. On July 30, 2019, the Court of Appeals denied the motion to publish but called for an answer to the motion to reconsider. BP filed an answer. On August 19, 2019, the Court of Appeals denied the motion to reconsider.

ARGUMENT

1. BP's vicarious liability

The Court of Appeals held that when an employee gets drunk at a company-sponsored party and then causes an accident while driving home, the employer is not vicariously liable unless the employer furnished the alcohol or encouraged drinking at the party. Opinion at 7. Review should be accepted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) because the Court of Appeals holding is in conflict with the prima facie test for vicarious liability set forth in <u>Dickinson</u>, 105 Wn.2d 457, 468 (1986):

A plaintiff may recover from a banquet-hosting employer if the following prima facie case is proven:

- 1. The employee consumed alcohol at a party hosted by the employer which was held to further the employer's interest in some way and at which the employee's presence was requested or impliedly or expressly required by the employer.
- 2. The employee negligently consumed alcohol to the point of intoxication when he knew or should have known he would need to operate a vehicle on some public highway upon leaving the banquet.
- 3. The employee caused the accident while driving from the banquet.

- 4. The proximate cause of the accident, the intoxication, occurred at the time the employee negligently consumed the alcohol.
- 5. Since this banquet was beneficial to the employer who impliedly or expressly required the employee's attendance, the employee negligently consumed this alcohol during the scope of his employment.

<u>See also Fairbanks v. J.B. McLoughlin Co.</u>, 131 Wash. 2d 96, 102, 929 P.2d 433, 436 (1997).

The first part of <u>Dickinson</u>, 105 Wash.2d at 461-466, allowed the injured plaintiff to proceed on the claim that the two defendants "were negligent in furnishing alcohol to an obviously intoxicated person." 105 Wash.2d at 461. The second part, 105 Wash.2d 466-470, allowed the claim of vicarious liability against the employer defendant. Furnishing of alcohol by the employer was a key fact only in the first section. The word "furnishing" is not used by the court in the section on vicarious liability. The Court of Appeals believed furnishing is an implied element. This court should disagree.

The doctrine of respondeat superior makes the master liable for the acts of his servant committed within the course or scope of employment. Dickinson, 105 Wash.2d at 466. To determine if an employee was in the scope of employment at any given time, the question is whether he was engaged at the time in the furtherance of his employer's interest. Dickinson, 105 Wash.2d at 467. The benefit to the employer is the important question, not "the control or involvement of the employer." Dickinson, 105 Wash.2d at 468. The employee's negligence that causes the off-premises accident is drinking to the point of intoxication. The employee's negligence is within the scope of employment if the employee became intoxicated at a party "hosted by the employer", the employer

requested the employee's presence,⁵ and the party was held to further the employer's interest "in some way". 105 Wash.2d at 468.

The Court of Appeals accepted BP's argument that by using the phrase "a party hosted by the employer", 105 Wash.2d at 468, the <u>Dickinson</u> court necessarily meant a party where the employer furnished the alcohol. The Court of Appeals reasoned that if the company did not provide alcohol or encourage drinking at the party, there would be no foreseeable risk to third parties from an employee driving home at the party. Opinion, at 7. The concept of foreseeability, typically associated with negligence, is mentioned in the law review article from which the <u>Dickinson</u> court adapted its prima facie case. But the concept of foreseeability is not mentioned in the <u>Dickinson</u> opinion, and it is inconsistent with <u>Dickinson</u>'s stated rationale. The rationale for vicarious liability stated by <u>Dickinson</u> is that the employer hosts the party to further its own interests. There is no requirement that the host employer furnishes or even knows about the alcohol or the drinking. The Court of Appeals in effect decided to follow the California line of cases discussed in the law review article rather than following the <u>Dickinson</u> test.

<u>Dickinson</u> is controversial. The dissent criticized the majority for "radically altering" the doctrine of respondent superior. The Massachusetts high court referred to Dickinson's application of respondent superior as "strained" and refused to follow it. Mosko v. Raytheon, 416 Mass 395, 398-99, 622 NE 2d 1066 (1993).

⁶ <u>Dickinson</u>, 105 Wash.2d at 491 (Durham J., dissenting).

⁵ Edwards, the intoxicated employee in Dickinson, was requested to be present at the banquet but was not required to be there. 105 Wash. 2d at 467-68.

An employee's voluntary attendance at a social event sponsored by his employer, like the party here which was off the employer's premises and outside of normal working hours, cannot reasonably be viewed as conduct within the scope of his employment.

Mosko, 416 Mass. at 400. See also Bruce v. Charles Roberts Air Conditioning, 801 P.2d 456, 462 (Ariz. App. 1990), agreeing with Justice Durham's dissent. Hawaii, on the other hand, has for the most part adopted Dickinson's vicarious liability test. Wong-Leong v. Hawaiian Indep. Refinery, Inc., 76 Haw. 433, 439 and n.6, 879 P.2d 538, 545 (1994). Hawaii recognized that the negligence of the employer in furnishing alcohol had no place in Dickinson's prima facie case of vicarious liability. Wong-Leong, 76 Haw. at 440 n.8. "Liability under the respondeat superior theory, however, does not require fault or knowledge on the part of the employer." Wong-Leong, 76 Haw. at 441-42 n.13.

The Washington Court of Appeals is the only court to read <u>Dickinson</u> and conclude that it requires proof of furnishing. To prove furnishing is to prove the employer was controlling the availability of alcohol. This is the "quagmire of exceptions based on employer involvement" that the <u>Dickinson</u> court explicitly sought to avoid. Dickinson, 105 Wash.2d at 468.

Under <u>Dickinson</u>, the inquiry focuses on "whether the employee was within the scope of employment when he was drinking at the banquet," i.e., "whether the banquet was a purely social function or sufficiently related to the employer's business to bring the employee's attendance within the scope of employment." Dickinson, 105 Wash.2d at 469. This is ordinarily a jury question. Dickinson, 105 Wash.2d at 469. It is at least a jury question here. A holiday party attended by almost 900 individuals is a major event designed to evoke good will toward BP

among its employees and their family members. Offering pictures with Santa, a symbol of good will if there ever was one, does not transform such a party into a purely social function. When a company hosts an employee party for business reasons, the party venue becomes an extension of the company's workplace premises. If employees bring their own bottles to the party and drink clandestinely to the point of intoxication before driving away, the employer is liable the same as if the covert drinking had occurred at the workplace. If the party had not occurred, Jason Schuyleman would still be alive. It is fair and entirely in keeping with the <u>Dickinson</u> rationale for vicarious liability that the damage caused by his death be paid for not just by Brian Smith, but also by the employer who, to serve its own business interests, requested Brian's presence.

BP argues that vicarious liability turns on whether the employer obtains a benefit from employees' consumption of alcohol. Dickinson does not support this argument. The intoxicated employee was on his way to work the night shift when he caused the accident. His presence was not required at the party and drinking alcohol was not in his job description. Dickinson, 105 Wash.2d at 460, 467-68. The company did not benefit from the consumption of alcohol by him or other employees; it benefited from the general good will generated by the company party, at which Edwards' presence had been requested. The same is true in our case. Good will does not depend on the availability of alcohol.

The Court of Appeals decision will inevitably lead to another quagmire of special rules for parties with children, parties where BYOB is encouraged or

⁷ BP's Answer to Schuyleman's Motion for Reconsideration in the Court of Appeals, at 5.

tolerated or frowned upon, parties with no-host bars, parties where the employees get one or two drink coupons, and so on. This court should take review because the Court of Appeals improperly added a burdensome element to the unique and simple prima facie case established in <u>Dickinson</u>.

2. Negligence under Restatement 317.

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