FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/17/2019 1:42 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 97683-0

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

HEIDI SCHUYLEMAN; ESTATE OF JASON LYLE SCHUYLEMAN; SERENA SCHUYLEMAN; HAILEY WOOLSEY; COLLEEN SCHEWEKING; JULIA SCHEWEKING; SERENA SCHUYLEMAN; RICHARD LOTHROP,

Petitioners,

v.

BP WEST COAST PRODUCTS, LLC,

Respondent,

and

BRIAN JEFFREY SMITH and JANE DOE SMITH,

Defendants.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

K. Michael Fandel, WSBA No. 16281 Kellen A. Hade, WSBA No. 44535 MILLER NASH GRAHAM & DUNN LLP Pier 70, 2801 Alaskan Way, Suite 300 Seattle, Washington 98121 Tel: (206) 624-8300 / Fax: (206) 340-9599

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

### II. ARGUMENT

### A. Standard for Review.

This Court accepts discretionary review in few circumstances. RAP 13.4(b). Schuyleman asserts that review is appropriate for two reasons: (i) the Orders somehow conflict with this Court's precedent; and (ii) this case presents an issue of substantial public importance. *Id.* at (b)(1),(4). Neither of those bases warrants review.

## B. <u>Vicarious Liability Claim: There is No Conflict with Any Decision of This Court.</u>

Schuyleman first argues that the trial court and the appellate court misconstrued this Court's law in dismissing her vicarious liability claim. The primary authority underlying both decisions is *Dickinson v. Edwards*,

this Court's decades-old, seminal decision on employer-host liability. There, an employer sponsored an event where it served employees wine and hard liquor that the employer bought. 105 Wn.2d 457, 459 (1986). The employer instructed staff to "keep the [employees'] glasses filled." *Id.* at 459-60. A company employee consumed at least 15 drinks bought by the employer, then collided with another motorist on the road as he was leaving the party. The motorist sued the employer, alleging it was vicariously liable for the employee's drunken driving.

In a plurality opinion, this Court acknowledged the common law rule that an employer is generally not liable for acts of employees while they travel to or from work (the "going and coming rule"). It then announced a "new application of the doctrine of *respondeat superior*, which may allow a plaintiff to recover from a banquet hosting employer without damaging the 'going and coming' rule." 105 Wn.2d at 468. Under *Dickinson's* rule, employers can be vicariously liable to third parties if the proximate cause of the injury—the employee's consumption of alcohol to the point of intoxication—occurred while the employee was acting within the scope of his employment. While *Dickinson* is not expressly limited to situations where the "hosting" employer provides alcohol, the Court of Appeals found that limitation implied because "[t]here would be no foreseeable risk of harm to third parties from an employee driving home from a company party at

which the employer did not provide alcohol or encourage drinking." Opinion at 7.

The Court of Appeals' Opinion is consistent with Dickinson. In creating its rule, *Dickinson* declined to adopt a "special errand" exception to the going and coming rule. 105 Wn.2d at 468. Instead, the Court focused on whether the employee's drinking was an aspect of work from which his employer benefited, analogizing to a decision a few years earlier in Flavorland Indus., Inc. v. Schumacker, 32 Wn. App. 428, 647 P.2d 1062 (1982). Like Dickinson, Flavorland involved an employer that paid for liquor consumed offsite by an employee who became intoxicated and was later involved in a fatal car accident. Evidence showed that the employer expected the employee to socialize with clients after hours as part of the job, during which time the employer encouraged drinking. Id., 32 Wn. App. at 433. The employee used a company charge account to pay these weekly bar tabs. Id. at 430. Given those facts, Flavorland upheld a jury's finding that the employee's drinking furthered his employer's business and so was within the scope of employment when he became intoxicated and died in a car accident after leaving the bar.

The *Flavorland* court was explicit that the going-and-coming rule did not apply only because the employer benefited from the employee's

<u>drinking</u>, which was part of the job. The court contrasted situations where the employer does not expect its employee to drink:

The present case must be distinguished from those where the consumption of alcohol is unrelated to the worker's job activities. . . . There was no anticipation by the employer that the worker would be consuming alcohol. Here, [the] job included socializing where alcohol was served.

Id. at 435. Dickinson interpreted Flavorland as analogous to and consistent with its new vicarious liability rule—not as a departure from the coming-and-going exception—by similarly focusing on the benefit to the employer from the employee's drinking. Dickinson, 105 Wn.2d at 467-68. Unless the employer's benefit is tied to the drinking as in Flavorland, then Dickinson swallows the going-and-coming exception every time an employee gets drunk and leaves the workplace.

Washington cases since *Dickinson* have applied its rule without conflict. For example, this Court had the chance to revisit the case in *Fairbanks v. McLoughlin*, which involved an employee who drank on her employer's tab for three hours and then hit a motorist soon after leaving the party. *Id.*, 131 Wn.2d 96, 100 (1997). In *Fairbanks* there was no dispute that the employer required employee attendance at a banquet where it served alcohol; the sole issue there was whether the employee drank to intoxication at the banquet. Rather than deviate or change the rule, the *Fairbanks* court explicitly endorsed *Dickinson*'s analysis. *Fairbanks* v. *J.B. McLoughlin Co.*, 131

Wn.2d 96, 100–01 (1997) (citing *Dickinson*, 105 Wn.2d at 468). And this Court cited both *Dickinson* and *Fairbanks* favorably relatively recently. *See Faust v. Albertson*, 167 Wn.2d 531, 540 (2009).

Schuyleman argues that the Court of Appeals erred by holding that "the employer is not vicariously liable unless the employer furnished the alcohol or encouraged drinking at the party." Petition for Review at 9. But that holding far from conflicts with *Dickinson* or *Fairbanks*: it is what those courts meant when they made "hosting" by the employer an element of the type of vicarious liability claim Schuyleman is pursuing. Schuyleman argues that "host" broadly means someone who organizes a gathering, ignoring that the term is one of art that means furnishing alcohol. Accepting that *Dickinson* fashioned its test using the colloquial definition of such an important term extends vicarious liability far past the Court's rationales for it. The crux of that case and the authorities it relied on is that the employer creates a foreseeable risk of harm to third parties, not merely by holding an event, but by serving excessive amounts of alcohol there, knowing employees will drive home later. *See Dickinson*, 105

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Liquor liability law distinguishes between three types of "hosts": commercial hosts, quasi-commercial hosts and social hosts. *See generally* 16A Wash. Prac., Tort Law and Practice §§ 29:1-6 (4th ed.). All of these hosts serve alcohol to their guests. Thus, in his concurring opinion in *Dickinson*, Justice Utter states that "[t]he dissent first errs in assuming that the world of hosts is neatly divided into those who would serve liquor for social purposes and those who would serve it for commercial purposes." 105 Wn.2d at 472.

Wn.2d at 475 (Utter, J., concurring); see also Patrick J. Barry, Employer Liability for a Drunken Employee's Actions Following an Office Party: A Cause of Action under Respondent Superior, 19 CAL. W. L. REV. 107, 120 (1982) (cited by Dickinson, 105 Wn.2d at 469-70). It makes sense for those banquet-hosting employers to bear the cost of that risk, especially when an open bar benefits the employer by increasing employee goodwill.

Those same justifications are missing when an employer does not serve alcohol at a company event. Here, for example, there was no reason for BP to foresee that the alcohol-free, kid-focused party created a risk of drunken driving. No alcohol had ever been seen at this party in the years before 2014, and BP employees testified they understood alcohol was not allowed. There were no prior alcohol-related incidents. If employees secretly drank their own alcohol at the party, their consumption did not benefit BP like consuming free drinks did for the employers in *Dickinson* or *Fairbanks*. And Schuyleman's argument swallows the going-and-coming rule that *Dickinson* sought to protect.

The *Dickinson* rationale could arguably be extended to employers who encourage alcohol consumption at a mandatory company event even if they don't serve it, because then the drinking arguably benefits the employer (by increasing employee morale, perhaps). But those are not the facts here, making this case is a poor vehicle to use to consider refining

Dickinson's rule. BP could not have benefitted by employee drinking it knew nothing about. The children's holiday party was not BYOB, either explicitly or implicitly. There were no drink coupons. There is no evidence that BP ever condoned or tolerated alcohol there. Common law rules should not be developed in the abstract; instead, this Court's lawmaking is best exercised incrementally by applying established law to facts actually before it. See Adamson v. Port of Bellingham, 193 Wn.2d 178, 184, 438 P.3d 522 (2019). This record does not give the Court a good opportunity to clarify or reform Dickinson.

Simply put, nothing in the appellate court's Opinion disturbs this Court's rule for banquet hosts: employers who serve alcohol to employees may still be vicariously liable for the injuries that employees cause after leaving the event. Those were the facts in *Dickinson* and *Fairbanks*, and they are not the facts here. For that reason, there is no conflict and RAP 13.4(b)(1) is not a basis to accept review.<sup>2</sup>

#### C. **Direct Negligence Claim: There Are No Issues of Sub**stantial Public Importance.

Schuyleman argues that the Court should review the dismissal of her direct negligence claim because it "involves an issue of substantial

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Court of Appeals reached only the threshold question of whether BP was a "banquet hosting employer" under *Dickinson*. It did not address BP's alternative arguments, all of which are independent bases to affirm the trial court. See Br. of Resp. at 14-20.

public interest." Petition for Review at 14 (citing RAP 13.4(b)(4)). Review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) is reserved for critical issues that have a statewide impact. For example, this Court noted that the "prime example of an issue of substantial public interest" was an appellate decision that had "the potential to affect every sentencing proceeding in Pierce County." *State v. Watson*, 155 Wn.2d 574, 577, 122 P.3d 903 (2005) (emphasis added). This Court has also reviewed cases involving such substantial public issues as sex offender registration, termination of parental rights and statutory child support obligations. *See Matter of Arnold*, 189 Wn.2d 1023, 408 P.3d 1091 (2017); *In Re Adoption of T.A.W.*, 184 Wn.2d 1040, 387 P.3d 636 (2016); *In re Marriage of Ortiz*, 108 Wn.2d 643, 646, 740 P.2d 843 (1987). This Court's decisions in all of those cases necessarily has wide-reaching effects and is important to more than just the parties involved.

In contrast, Schuyleman suggests that this case involves "the recurring fact pattern of an employee who gets drunk at a holiday party and then causes a fatal accident on the highway." Petition for Review at 14. Setting aside that there's no evidence that Smith drank at the holiday party, important here is the lack of any evidence that alcohol-free company events are creating a recurring risk of harm to the public. Schuyleman offers nothing, either factually or anecdotally, from which the Court can

conclude that its decision will affect anyone other than Shuyleman and BP.

If this case implicates public policy at all, that policy supports denying review and permitting the Court of Appeals' decision to stand. The natural consequence of Schuyleman's position—a rule imposing strict liability on employers to prevent clandestine drinking—is that employers will stop having company events at all. This concern was forefront in the minds of the Court of Appeals:

<u>THE COURT</u>: Did I hear you say that the risk is the same whether alcohol is or isn't served? Essentially an employer would just not have to have any of these events if it wanted to shield itself from liability if we adopt your rule, is that true?

<u>PETITIONER'S COUNSEL</u>: That's correct. That is correct your honor.

THE COURT: You're asking us to tell employers that you have holiday celebrations at your risk. Regardless of what your rules are.<sup>3</sup>

\* \* \*

<u>THE COURT</u>: I want to circle back to something that concerns me, and that is that if we adopt the approach you've taken, then we've essentially told employers: "No holiday celebrations of any kind without liability." *And that seems* 

<sup>3</sup> Oral Argument Hr'g, Division I, Washington Court of Appeals, at 2 min., 22 sec., *audio recording at* https://www.courts.wa.gov/content/OralArgAudio/a01/20190611/.

# like, really, an unsatisfactory result from a society perspective.<sup>4</sup>

Schuyleman cannot show that the public is substantially interested in this Court creating a rule imposing liability that will likely cut (if not eliminate) company events, summer BBQs and holiday parties, even those that are alcohol-free.

# D. <u>Case-Specific Evidentiary Issues Do Not Warrant Review.</u>

Finally Schuyleman interlaces certain fact-specific evidentiary issues among her bases for review. Those issues have little importance to anyone but the parties here. This Court's opinion thus would be limited to this record, which would similarly restrict its ability to contribute to the broader common law. This Court's time is reserved for "significant" legal questions and issues of "substantial" interest. *See* RAP 13.4(b). One-off evidentiary rulings are neither.

### III. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

This is not a case that warrants discretionary review. For the reasons stated above, Schuyleman has failed her burden to show that RAP 13.4(1) or (4) apply to the issues she raises, and BP asks this Court deny the petition for review.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> *Id.* at 20 mins, 23 sec. (emphasis added).

## DATED this 17th day of October, 2019.

K. Michael Fandel, WSBA No. 16281 Kellen A. Hade, WSBA No. 44535

MILLER NASH GRAHAM & DUNN LLP 2801 Alaskan Way, Suite 300 Seattle, WA 98121-1128 Tel: (206) 624-8300

Fax: (206) 340-9599
Email: michael.fandel@millernash.com
kellen.hade@millernash.com

Attorneys for Respondent BP West Coast Products LLC